1952

Richard Shields v. Peter Ramon : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involved a collision between two automobiles, one automobile, a 1939 Ford eight-passenger station wagon which was owned and driven by Richard Shields, the plaintiff and appellant herein, and the other automobile a 1951 Hudson two-door sedan which was owned and driven by Peter Ramon, the defendant and respondent herein. The plaintiff brought suit against

the defendant for personal injuries and for damages to his automobile. The defendant counterclaimed for personal injuries and for damages to his automobile. The court below awarded judgment to the defendant upon his counter-claim for both personal injuries and for damages to his automobile.

The accident occurred about 6:30 P.M., January 26, 1951, on State Street, a north and south street in Salt Lake City, Utah, at the intersection of Truman Avenue and State Street. State Street at the time was divided into six marked traffic lanes, three for northbound traffic and three for southbound traffic. The center was marked by two yellow lines about three feet apart. The defendant, Peter Ramon, was driving his 1951 Hudson north on State Street intending to turn west into Truman Avenue. The plaintiff, Richard Shields, was driving his 1939 Ford in a southerly direction on State Street, traveling in the lane of traffic next to the center line dividing north and south bound traffic. Defendant was traveling north in the lane of traffic for northbound vehicles, next to the center line.

The plaintiff was returning home from his work at the Bingham mine. When he left his work he was carrying six passengers. According to plaintiff's testimony he took the following course (R. 10): "Came down the Bingham-Midvale Road, came up Redwood Road to 8th South, from there went over to 6th West, and let out a rider; from there drove over to 2nd West and 8th South, let out another rider; from there drove over to 9th East and 9th South and let out another rider; and from there

drove up 5th West to 2nd South and let two riders out; I drove to 10th West and 4th North street to see a fellow who was supposed to ride with me; and from there I drove up 1st South and let out a rider there; from there I drove down to 8th West and 21st South, I went over to 21st South and State Street and turned south on State Street.’’

At the time of the accident plaintiff was driving in a southerly direction on State Street, traveling in the lane of traffic next to the center line. Defendant was traveling north on State Street in the lane of traffic next to the center line, intending to turn west on Truman Avenue. Plaintiff first saw the defendant at approximately 150 feet away (R. 21-22). It was foggy and visibility was poor. The defendant’s car lights, however, were plainly visible at a distance of 150 feet (R. 21-22). Plaintiff was approaching the intersection of Truman Avenue when he first saw defendant’s car lights (R. 21). Plaintiff saw the lights on defendant’s car approaching (R. 23). Plaintiff was driving with his lights on (R. 45-46). Plaintiff was traveling at approximately 25 miles per hour (R. 21). Other cars were observed traveling at 25 to 30 miles per hour (R. 51).

As plaintiff continued south down State Street he saw defendant’s car lights coming from the south and, according to plaintiff’s testimony, “all of a sudden he made a left hand turn directly in front of me” (R. 11). It was so sudden plaintiff could not stop or avoid the accident (R. 11). He attempted to avoid the accident by turning to the right, but it was too late (R. 11).

At the time of the collision, defendant was not observing plaintiff's automobile (R. 40-45). Instead, he was looking west (R. 46). At the time of the impact, defendant was traveling westerly at a speed of 5 miles per hour (R. 40). He had traveled about 15 feet (R. 24). He drove his car from the northbound traffic lane into the southbound traffic lane next to the center dividing line—directly into plaintiff's lane of travel (R. 24). The accident was very sudden (R. 12, 40). There were no skid marks (R. 35). Plaintiff's car traveled a distance of 12 feet after the impact. Defendant traveled 67 feet (R. 34). The point of impact was in plaintiff's lane—the southbound traffic lane next to the center dividing line (R. 24-28). The front end of plaintiff's car was damaged (R. 13). The right front fender, right front door, center door post, and right side of defendant's car was damaged (R. 43).

At the point of impact the defendant's car had barely crossed the double center dividing line (R. 24-28). The accident happened in the southbound traffic lane—plaintiff's driving lane—the lane next to the center dividing line (R. 24-28). Dippo, investigating officer, received word of the accident at 7:25 P.M. and arrived at the scene at 7:29 P.M. after traveling a distance of four blocks. Plaintiff's wife, Jean Shields, received word of the accident at 7:15 P.M. and arrived at the scene at 7:30 P.M.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The court erred in granting judgment to the defendant on his counter-claim.

ARGUMENT

Defendant was guilty of negligence upon his own evidence and upon the evidence of the plaintiff and other witnesses, and his negligence was the sole proximate cause of the accident.

1. He violated Section 57-7-133 U.C.A. 1943 in that he turned his vehicle from a direct course northward to westerly when such movement could not be made with reasonable safety.

2. He violated Section 57-7-137 U.C.A. 1943 in that he failed to yield the right of way to plaintiff's motor vehicle which had either entered the intersection or was so close as to constitute an immediate hazard.

3. He negligently and carelessly drove and operated his car into the pathway of plaintiff's on-coming vehicle in disregard of the hazard to himself and his car when it was so close as to constitute a hazard, regardless of any question of right of way.

French vs. Utah Oil Refining Co., Utah ;
216 Pac. (2d) 1002.

In that case plaintiff made a left turn at an intersection at a speed of eight miles per hour in front of an oncoming truck traveling twenty miles per hour. The court held he was negligent because the truck was so close that the collision could not be avoided and that he had failed to yield the right of way.

“A burden is placed on the driver making the turn as he has control of the situation, and if there is a reasonable probability that the move-

ment cannot be made in safety then the disfavored driver should yield. The driver proceeding straight ahead has little opportunity to know a vehicle is to be turned across his path until the movement is commenced and in many instances, the warning is too late for the latter driver to take effective action.”

Also, the court states:

“While it is doubtful that plaintiff established any negligence on the part of the defendant’s truck driver we pass that question as the court directed the verdict because of the lack of due care on the part of the plaintiff.” (Italics added.)

Hence in this case the court inferred that the negligence of the person making the left hand turn was the sole proximate cause of the accident.

Hart vs. Kerr, 110 Utah 479, 175 Pac. (2d) 475.

In that case plaintiff made a left turn in front of an oncoming vehicle 300 feet away which was coming at 40 miles per hour. This court held he was guilty of contributory negligence. In this case, however, defendant made the left hand turn when the oncoming vehicle could not have been more than 70 feet away and traveling at 25 miles per hour. In this case the accident happened within 2 seconds after defendant started his left turn. Defendant’s own evidence did not justify the court in finding a verdict for the defendant.

In the Cederloff vs. Whited (110 Utah 45, 169 Pac. (2d) 777) case the defendant drove his car in front of plaintiff’s oncoming vehicle at a slow rate of speed. This court held he was guilty of negligence as a matter of law

and that his negligence was the sole proximate cause of the accident.

“Section 57-7-133 U.C.A. 1943 provides:

(a) No person shall turn a vehicle from a direct course upon a highway unless and until such movement can be made with reasonable safety * * *. Defendant turned his car from a direct course in the highway into the lane of traffic intended for vehicles traveling in the opposite direction at a time when plaintiff's car was approaching in such close proximity that the collision occurred as soon as the front end of defendant's car had reached a few feet into plaintiff's lane of traffic.”

Judge Wolfe stated that

“the driver making the left turn in most every case has control of the situation. He knows when he is going to turn. The opposing approaching drivers must discover it. Even when an approaching driver is coming too rapidly, the left hand turn drivers must take that into consideration. All the more reason that he should not take a chance. After all, the approaching driver is in his own lane. His excess speed may have constituted negligent driving but that negligence did not contribute to the accident.”

In this case the defendant testified that the accident happened very sudden—“all at once” (R. 40). It could only happen that fast if they were in such close proximity as to constitute an immediate hazard. Under the circumstances, plaintiff could not have avoided the accident, and defendant's negligence was as a matter of law the sole proximate cause of the collision and resulting injury and damage and the court erred in not so finding.

See also :

Sine v. Salt Lake Transportation Co., 106 Utah 289, 147 Pac. (2d) 875; Bullock vs. Luke, 98 Utah 501, 28 Pac. (2d) 350; Mingas vs. Olsson, Utah, 201 Pac. (2d) 495; Conklin v. Walsh, Utah, 193 Pac. (2d) 437; Hickock v. Skinner, Utah, 190 Pac. (2d) 514; State v. Newton, 105 Utah 561, 144 Pac. 2d 290.

Defendant's story that he could not see the plaintiff's car is not sustained by the evidence. On cross-examination he testified that he was not looking in the direction from which plaintiff's car was approaching (R. 45-46) :

“Q. When did you first see his (plaintiff's) lights?

A. It was that far from me. (Indicates)

Q. That is the first time you saw his (plaintiff's) lights?

A. Yes, of course, I was watching west.

Q. Mr. Shields' car, you never did see it?

A. Never did see it.”

The defendant testified that he was able to see other cars traveling on State Street (R. 45) :

“Q. Did you see any cars pass you as you were traveling?

A. On the opposite side, the same side——.

Q. As you were going up State Street?

A. Yes."

He also testified that he could see cars traveling south on State Street (R. 45):

"Q. You could see those cars plainly?

A. Yes."

Mrs. Shields, who arrived at the scene of the accident a minute after Dippo, the investigating officer—approximately 7:30 P.M.—testified as follows: (R. 49)

"Q. When you arrived on State Street, did you notice a change in the visibility?

A. Very much, Main Street was very dark and on State Street you could see.

Q. What did you observe?

A. Well I could observe car lights, I know for two blocks up the street.

Q. Did you make any other observations?

A. I could see there was a police car up in the street, see their red dome light on, and their red flares.

Q. How far was this street, where you went on State Street, to where the accident took place?

A. I would say one city block to two small blocks in South Salt Lake from Truman Avenue to Oakland Avenue."

In response to the question regarding the illumination of the State Street lights which, as a matter of common knowledge are especially designed to illuminate

State Street highway under such atmospheric conditions as described in this case, Mrs. Shields testified: (R. 49-51)

“Q. Now you observed the lights that were on State Street, did you not?

A. Yes sir.

Q. What kind of lights are they?

A. Those sodium things they have up high.

Q. And what color do they reflect?

A. Yellow.

Q. And you noticed when you came on State Street the illumination lighted up and you could see much better?

A. Yes.”

Mrs. Shields also testified that she observed other cars traveling along on State Street at the scene of the accident (R. 51):

“Q. When you arrived on State Street, did you have occasion to observe cars travelling up and down on State Street?

A. Yes.

Q. Could you give your judgment as to the speed of these cars — relative to the speed of these cars you saw travelling?

A. I would say they were doing between 25 and 30 until they came upon the scene of the accident, then everyone slowed down to see what happened.”

There is no doubt as to the fact that defendant was negligent and that his negligence was the sole proximate

cause of the accident. Both the plaintiff and the defendant testified that the accident happened very sudden. It could only happen that fast if they were in such close proximity, when the defendant made his left hand turn, as to constitute an immediate hazard. Certainly if it was negligence in the above recently decided cases, then defendant was negligent in this case.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion we insist that it is apparent that plaintiff is entitled to a judgment against the defendant for personal injuries and for damages to his automobile. We also insist that this proposition is so clearly borne out by the evidence that this court should remand the case to the District Court of Salt Lake County with instructions to enter judgment for the plaintiff.