1952

## Richard Shields v. Peter Ramon : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent disagrees with Appellant's statement of facts and for that reason now sets forth the facts which he contends are supported by the record.

The accident here involved occurred in the nighttime, during a very heavy fog. (R. 39). Visibility was very restricted. In one place Appellant's witness, Dipol, testi-

fied that visibility was no greater than 25 feet. (R. 30). Later he said it would not be possible to see an approaching car at a distance greater than 20 feet under the conditions prevailing at the intersection at the time of the accident, (R. 32) and that safe driving speed at the time was not in excess of 5 miles per hour. (R. 32.)

It was under these adverse weather conditions that Respondent was slowly proceeding northward on State Street in the lane next to the double lines dividing opposing lanes of traffic. Stopping at about the intersection of Truman Avenue and State Street before making a left turn to the West, Respondent observed headlights of two cars approaching from the North. He permitted them to go by and noticed they were traveling slowly—no more than 10 miles per hour (R. 39). Looking again to the North he saw no other headlights (R. 39). He then began making a left turn very slowly—from two to five miles per hour. Appellant, just before impact, was traveling along State Street in the lane next to the dividing double lines in a southerly direction. According to Appellant's witness, Dipol, Appellant stated to the officer, some thirty to forty-five minutes after the accident, that he, Appellant, was traveling thirty miles per hour just before impact and twenty-five miles per hour at impact (R. 35 and 36). Appellant also told the officer he did not see Respondent's car until it was "right in front of him" (R. 30 and 31). Appellant, himself, admitted that he was traveling twenty-five miles per hour.

Respondent saw Appellant's lights approaching very

suddenly (R. 45 and 46), just prior to impact. The front part of Appellant's vehicle made contact with the right rear side of Respondent's car. (R. 27 and 28). From the impact Respondent's car traveled 67 feet while Appellant's car traveled 12 feet; (R. 34) no skid marks were left by either car.

## ARGUMENT

Respondent has no argument with the law and the cases cited by Appellant. They state the law in this jurisdiction covering cases to which they apply. Respondent disagrees only with the attempt made by Appellant to apply them to the case at bar. In none of the cases cited by Appellant are there any fact situations similar to the one here before the court. In all of these cases visibility was unrestricted. In the case before the court in this appeal the visibility of both drivers was extremely impaired.

It is settled law that a driver in encountering a fog is not bound as a matter of law to stop and wait for the fog to lift in order to escape a charge of negligence. 60 C.J.S. P. 699; *Peasley v. White*, 152 Atl. 530; 129 Me. 450.

The degree of care to be exercised by an automobile driver in a fog varies with the conditions of the fog, of the roadway and of traffic. In other words, a driver must exercise a degree of care consistent with existing conditions. 60 C.J.S. P. 697; *Cole v. Wilson*, 127 Me. 316; 143 Atl. 178; *Silva v. Waldie*, 82 P. (2) 282; 42 N.M. 514.

*Respondent Not Guilty of Negligence as a Matter of Law*

Appellant contends that under the facts of this case the court below was required to find respondent guilty of negligence as a matter of law. This, in spite of the fact that the evidence in support of the judgment and decree rendered, was that respondent was traveling very slowly and cautiously; that he stopped in preparation for making a left hand turn; that he perceived head lights of two other cars approaching him at a slow rate of speed; that he permitted them to go by, and looking again to the North saw no other head lights and thereupon began to make a left turn very slowly, and as he was doing so appellant's car coming on at a speed of 30 miles an hour struck respondent's car in its approximate center and knocked it some 67 feet down the road.

We believe it was clearly within the province of the court to weigh these facts which were put in evidence and which appear as a matter of record and that the case is not one which this court on appeal can say fastens negligence upon the Respondent as a matter of law.

We refer the court to 5 *Am. Jur.* Page 892, wherein it is said:

"725. *Impaired Visibility.* — Generally where the driver of an automobile has been injured, or his car damaged, in a motor accident where his view was obscured by dust, smoke, or atmospheric conditions, it is a question for the jury whether his conduct constituted contributory negligence, unless the facts and circumstances surrounding the accident, and the inferences that may be drawn therefrom, are not in dispute. Factors to be considered in connection with arriving at a de-

termination of the motorist's contributory negligence are the speed of his automobile, extent of visibility, control of car, and any other matters explanatory of the proper degree of care and caution demanded under the circumstances."

See also:

*Schuster v. Johnson*, 145 A 29, 108 Conn. 704; *Moffitt v. O.L.D. Forwarding Co.*, 73 N.E. (2d) 164; 331 Ill. App. 278; *Caudle v. Zenor*, 251 N.W. 69; 217 Iowa 77; *Reserve Trucking Co. v. Fairchild*, 191 N.E. 745; 128 Ohio St. 519; *Langill v. First Nat. Stores*, 11 N.E. (2d) 593; 298 Mass. 559; *Cummins v. Southern Fruit Co.*, 36 S.E. (2d) 11; 225 N.C. 625; *Pope v. Clary*, Tex Civ. App. 161 S.W. (2d) 828.

In the above case of *Moffitt v. O.L.D. Forwarding Co.* the court had this to say:

"The question of contributory negligence is preeminently for the consideration of the jury, as such negligence cannot be defined in exact terms, and unless it can be said that the action of the injured person is clearly and palpably negligent it is not within the province of the Court to substitute its judgment for that of the jury."

Of interest on this point are the cases appearing in 37 A.L.R. 584, et seq, and 73 A.L.R. 1027 et seq. In the cases annotated in the foregoing citations the various courts held that the question of contributory negligence under the facts of the respective cases there appearing was a matter for the trier of the fact to decide and would not be disturbed on appeal.



In the case of *Alitz v. Minneapolis & St. L. R. Co.*, 196 Iowa, 437, 193 N.W. 423, an automobile driver was struck and injured by a train at a crossing in which visibility was obstructed by smoke and fog. From a judgment in favor of the plaintiff, defendant appealed and argued that under the facts of the case plaintiff was chargeable with contributory negligence as a matter of law. The court there said:

“The question thus presented is not to be answered or determined from the simple fact of the collision, divorced or separated from its attendant circumstances. If, for instance, the jury should believe from the evidence, as it was authorized to find, that the smoke did obscure plaintiff’s view of the track, and that such obscurity was accentuated by cloudy, misty, or foggy weather, and that the approaching train was being operated through this screen at a high rate of speed, without sounding the proper crossing signals, then a finding by the jury that plaintiff’s act in attempting the crossing was consistent with reasonable care on his part could not be set aside as having no support in the record. Such conclusion is not at all inconsistent with the precedents cited by appellant, where the simple fact of the presence of smoke or steam obscures the traveler’s vision has been held insufficient to excuse a rash attempt to make a crossing.”

In the case of *Queen vs. Washington Water Power Co.*, 128 Wash. 553; 223 Pac. 1045, plaintiff’s car was damaged when struck by a street car at a crossing and plaintiff’s vision was reduced to 20 feet by a severe snow

storm. Under such facts the court held that it was a question for the jury whether the plaintiff had acted as a prudent person under the circumstances and he could not be held to be guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law. See also *Devoto v. United Auto Transp. Co.*, 223 Pac. 1050, 128 Wash. 604.

It is submitted by Respondent that the question of contributory negligence under the law and facts of this case was a question for the trier of the fact, which question was resolved in favor of the respondent and against the appellant; that the judgment in this case is fully sustained by the record and may not be disturbed in this appeal. *Point II - Appellant Guilty of Negligence as a Matter of Law*

Appellant makes no argument in support of his contention that he is entitled to judgment. We make brief reference to this matter, however, in order to leave no doubt as to our position with respect to it.

We believe that appellant was guilty of negligence as a matter of law under the case of *Nikoleropoulos v. Ramsey*, 214 P. 304; 61 Utah 465, which states the law in this jurisdiction to be that it is negligence for a person to drive an automobile on a public street at such a rate of speed that it cannot be stopped within the distance at which the operator is able to see objects on the street in front of him. Officer Dipo, Appellant's own witness, testified that visibility was restricted to between 20 to 25 feet and that safe driving speed was 5 miles per hour. Appellant admitted he was traveling 25 miles per hour just prior to impact and according to Dipo, Appellant admitted to him on the scene that he was traveling 30

miles per hour. Neither automobile left skid marks because neither party was able to see the other until just immediately before impact when it was too late.

A reading of the whole record will make it clear to this Court, as it was clear to the Court below that this accident happened as a result of Appellant traveling at a grossly negligent rate of speed in a dense fog; that although Respondent was traveling slowly and cautiously as the circumstances required, he was helpless when Appellant suddenly appeared out of the fog coming at a high rate of speed; and that Appellant was unable to avoid the collision because unable to stop within the range of his vision.

### CONCLUSION

In conclusion we submit that the judgment of the District Court of Salt Lake County is fully sustained by the record and should therefore be affirmed with costs to Respondent.